Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

2-15-2018

Arellano v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 45179

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Juan Manuel Arellano appeals from the district court's order denying post-conviction relief. He asserts that the district court erred by denying his petition because he established both deficient performance and prejudice at the evidentiary hearing.

Statement of the Facts and Course of Proceedings

Juan Arellano was charged with the first degree murder of his wife, aggravated battery, and attempted murder, all of which were alleged to be enhanced by the use of a firearm. (41995 R., pp.21-24.)¹ Mr. Arellano reached an agreement with the State wherein he would plead guilty to the first degree murder charge and the associated weapons enhancement and would be free to argue an appropriate sentence, while the State would dismiss the remaining charges and argue for no more than a unified sentence of life, with 22 years fixed. (41995 R., pp.28-53.) However, when it came time to actually placing his guilty plea on the record, Mr. Arellano would not state that the shooting was premeditated or that he acted with malice aforethought, and the parties agreed that Mr. Arellano could enter an *Alford*² plea to those specific elements. (41995 R., pp.83-88.) Mr. Arellano was sentenced to a unified term of life, with 22 years fixed, and his sentence was affirmed on appeal. (41995 R., pp.70-73, 89-97, 124-126.)

Mr. Arellano filed a timely verified Petition and Affidavit for Post Conviction Relief, generally asserting that his trial counsel was ineffective in advising him to plead guilty. (41995 R., pp.5-97.) In his petition, Mr. Arellano made the following relevant factual assertions:

¹ This Court has augmented the record in this case with the record from Mr. Arellano's prior appeal, *Arellano v. State*, Docket No. 41995. (R., p.2.) Citations to the record from prior appeal are cited as 41995 R., while citations to the current record are cited as R.

² North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970).

- 29. Petitioner asserts that he lacked the ability to act deliberately and with violence against his wife, and the killing of his wife occurred by accident because of the blind rage upon seeing her come back into the bar after her lover escorted her out.
- 30. A jury would have been allowed to infer that the requisite mental state was lacking on all the assault charges or he was under the influence of two drugs and the culmination of emotions that his wife intentionally provoked.

. . .

- 51. No one knows what Petitioner's intent was when he pulled out a gun and walked out onto the dance floor. All petitioner knows is that his emotions overwhelmed him, and [he] wanted to rant and rave.
- 52. Petitioner asserts her death was an accident and misfortune in the heat of his passion as he was attempting to scare her. He never intended to kill her, but the rage within was so overwhelming that he was out of control and even more by the acts of others.
- 53. Under the professional norms, counsel's assistance amounted to incompetence. Counsel failed entirely in his representation.
- 54. Petitioner alleges he committed homicide and attempted assaults with a weapon in the heat of passion upon the appearance of his wife as she intentionally came back to the bar.
- 55. Counsel's representation was so seriously defective he was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment.
- 56. Petitioner asserts that there exist(s) a reasonable probability that but for counsel's representation, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial.
- 57. Counsel's failures prejudice(d) petitioner and if he would have fulfilled his obligations he would never have been convicted of any of the charges filed by information.
- 58. Petitioner advised his attorney (of) his version of the facts surrounding the death of his wife. Yet counsel insisted that some of those facts were irrelevant, and that if he went to trial he would be found guilty. As a result of counsel refusing to participate in petitioner's defense he entered a guilty plea.
- (41995 R., pp.10, 13.) The district court granted Mr. Arellano's motion for to the appointment of counsel. (41995 R., pp.98-101, 111-112.)

The State filed an Answer and a motion for summary dismissal, and brief in support, generally claiming that Mr. Arellano's claims were bare and conclusory, not supported by admissible evidence, or should have been raised on direct appeal, and it requested the district court to dismiss the petition. (41995 R., pp.113-116, 120-141.) Counsel for Mr. Arellano filed an objection to the State's motion for summary dismissal arguing, in part, "Petitioner avers that his counsel advised him that his mental state at the time of the alleged incident was not relevant to the case. This is clearly a significant issue that needs to be explored to determine the validity of the Defendant's entry of his Guilty Plea." (41995 R., p.158 (citation omitted).)

The district court entered an order granting the State's motion for summary disposition. (41995 R., pp.167-184.) Regarding what the court described as Mr. Arellano's claim that trial counsel "advised Mr. Arellano to plead guilty to first degree murder 'when the State would not be able to prove the charge,'" the court found the allegations were bare and conclusory and there was sufficient evidence to convict him of murder, and that Mr. Arellano failed to prove that his trial counsel's advice to plead guilty was deficient "and that he suffered prejudice as a result." (41995 R., pp.170-171.) Mr. Arellano timely appealed from the district court's final Judgment dismissing the petition. (41995 R., pp.185-186, 200-203.)

The Court of Appeals reversed in part. *See Arellano v. State*, 158 Idaho 708 (Ct. App. 2015). The Court of Appeals interpreted assertion 58 to aver that Mr. Arellano informed counsel about his mental state at the time of the offense and that counsel informed him that his mental state was irrelevant. *Id.* at 711. Further, the Court of Appeals concluded that the claim was not conclusory, but rather was supported by admissible evidence. *Id.* at 711-12. The court therefore remanded this claim for an evidentiary hearing. *Id.* at 712.

Following remand, the district court held an evidentiary hearing where both Mr. Arellano and his trial counsel testified. The district court made the following findings of fact that are relevant to this case on appeal: that Mr. Arellano and his wife had a very tumultuous relationship and that, on May 29, 2010, he sent a text message to a mutual friend stating, "I'm going to kill that whore." (R., p.77.)

That evening, Mr. Arellano wen to a bar in Burley and took a handgun with him. (R., p.77.) He stayed at the bar for a period of time before his wife arrived; when she arrived and went onto the dance floor with another man, Mr. Arellano fired a single shot that killed her. (R., p.78.) Mr. Arellano was arrested shortly thereafter and initially told law enforcement that he planned to kill his wife that night. (R., p.78.) Mr. Arellano was charged with first degree murder. (R., p.78.)

Counsel for Mr. Arellano initially believed that the evidence in the case would not support first degree murder and discussed a potential voluntary manslaughter heat of passion defense. (R., p.78.) However, once counsel discovered the existence of the text message, "that changed the calculus because it was going to be hard for us to walk in and argue that he did all of this in the heat of passion, having just sent this text earlier." (R., p.79.)

Counsel explained to Mr. Arellano the effect of the text message to his defense of the case, specifically with regard to voluntary manslaughter. (R., p.79.) However, counsel did not recall discussing the difference between first and second degree murder; counsel testified that the difference "didn't matter to me under the facts of the circumstances at that point because of that text message." (R., p.79.)

Mr. Arellano eventually entered into a plea agreement in which he pleaded guilty to first degree murder with an *Alford* plea to the elements of malice aforethought and premeditation.

(R., p.80.) Mr. Arellano testified at the evidentiary hearing in this case that he did not have an understanding of those elements. (R., p.80.)

In post-hearing briefing, Mr. Arellano asserted that the evidence showed that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to advise him as to the elements and application of the facts as they related to second-degree murder and by failing to understand and/or communicate with Mr. Arellano the impact of a potential second-degree murder conviction. (R., p.43.) The district court denied the petition. (R., p.76.) Mr. Arellano appealed. (R., p.90.) He asserts that the district court by denying his petition for post-conviction relief.

<u>ISSUE</u>

Did the district court err when denied Mr. Arellano's petition for post-conviction relief?

ARGUMENT

The District Court Erred When It Denied Mr. Arellano's Petition For Post-Conviction Relief

A. <u>Introduction</u>

Mr. Arellano asserts that he demonstrated both deficient performance and prejudice following the evidentiary hearing and that the district court erred by denying his petition for post-conviction relief.

B. The District Court Erred When It Denied Mr. Arellano's Petition For Post-Conviction Relief

A petition seeking post-conviction relief initiates a separate civil proceeding distinct from the original criminal actions. *See, e.g., Howard v. State*, 126 Idaho 231, 233 (Ct. App. 1994). "In a post-conviction proceeding, the burden is on the applicant to establish the grounds for relief by a preponderance of the evidence." *Id*.

Upon review of a district court's denial of a petition for post-conviction relief when an evidentiary hearing has occurred, Idaho appellate courts will not disturb the district court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *McKinney v. State*, 133 Idaho 695, 700 (1999); *Russell v. State*, 118 Idaho 65, 67 (Ct. App. 1990). When reviewing mixed questions of law and fact, the appellate court defers to the district court's factual findings supported by substantial evidence, but freely reviews the application of the relevant law to those facts. *Id.*, (citing *Young v. State*, 115 Idaho 52, 54 (Ct. App. 1988)).

"A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel may properly be brought under the post-conviction procedure act." *Goodwin v. State*, 138 Idaho 269, 272 (Ct. App. 2002). A petitioner's allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel within a post-conviction petition is

measured by the standards articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court in *Strickland v. Washington.*³ *See, e.g., State v. Yokovac*, 145 Idaho 437, 444 (2007). The standard involves a two-party inquiry: first, whether the defendant has demonstrated that his counsel tendered deficient performance, meaning that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; and second, whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the result of the proceedings would have been different. *Id.* In the context of alleged deficiencies of counsel relating to guilty pleas, the specific standard for prejudice is whether, "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *Ridgley v. State*, 148 Idaho 671, 676 (2009).

In its order denying post-conviction relief, the court noted that Mr. Arellano's initial claim was that counsel told him that his mental state was irrelevant, but that he "refined" his argument in his post-evidentiary hearing, where he asserted that counsel was ineffective for failing to advise him regarding the difference between first and second degree murder and the elements of second degree murder. (R., p.81.) The court determined that it would address the merits of the claim and not analyze whether this was unpleaded claim or a new claim. (R., p.81.)

Mr. Arellano submits that the claim raised in the post-trial briefing is not a new claim, but rather a refinement of his initial claim: he initially claimed that counsel told him that his mental state was irrelevant, but after the hearing he simply claimed that his counsel did not explain the difference in the mental state required for first or second degree murder. However, even if it is a new claim, the Idaho Supreme Court has explained, "It is clear that a trial court may and is required to grant any relief to a party which the evidence demonstrates a party is entitled to, whether or not such has been specifically requested." *Cady v. Pitts*, 102 Idaho 86, 90 (1981);

³ Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

accord O'Connor v. Harger Constr., Inc., 145 Idaho 904, 911 (2008); Child v. Blaser, 111 Idaho 702, 704 (Ct. App. 1986) ("We also agree that the judge had the authority—even the duty—to grant the relief to which [plaintiffs] were shown to be entitled although they had not demanded such in their pleadings."). Thus, "Every other final judgment [except default judgments] should grant the relief to which the party is entitled, even if the party has not demanded that relief in its pleadings." I.R.C.P. 54(c). Finally, because the district court addressed only the merits of the claim, this Court should as well.

1. <u>Deficient Performance</u>

In this case, the district court held that Mr. Arellano had not demonstrated deficient performance for two reasons: 1) counsel had no duty to advise Mr. Arellano of the lesser offense of second degree murder; and 2) counsel negotiated a plea that allowed Mr. Arellano to maintain his position that he lacked the requisite mental intent. (R., pp.83.84.) Mr. Arellano submits that the district court erred.

First, with regard to the court's conclusion that counsel had no duty to advise of second degree murder, and that Mr. Arellano had cited to no authority to demonstrate otherwise, the district court was incorrect. In this case, Mr. Arellano alleged that he received ineffective assistance of counsel, and the law on ineffective assistant of counsel is clear: when a defendant wishes to plead guilty, defense counsel must determine that the plea is entered voluntarily and knowingly. *Rogers v. Maggio*, 714 F.2d 35 (5th Cir. 1983); *Hill v. Estelle*, 653 F.2d 202 (5th Cir. 1981). Counsel must be familiar with the relevant facts and law so that the client can be advised of the options available. This duty includes the investigation and explanation of potential defenses so that the client may make an informed decision. *Hobbs v. Blackburn*, 752 F.2d 1079, 1083 (5th Cir. 1985). Thus, counsel had a duty to explain that a potential defense to

first degree murder would be that Mr. Arellano lacked premeditation. And counsel did not have this discussion with Mr. Arellano. As the district court found, counsel testified: "whether it was a first degree case, looking at premeditation; second degree case, looking at the intent issue on a potential lesser standard, it didn't matter to me under the fact of the circumstances at that point because of that text message." (R., p.79.)

But it mattered to Mr. Arellano. As the district court found, Mr. Arellano entered a plea to first degree murder with an *Alford* plea as the elements of malice aforethought and premeditation. (R., pp.83-84.) According to the district court, "this plea allowed him to maintain his position that he lacked the requisite mental intent." (R., p.84.) However, Mr. Arellano asserts that, without advice on the difference between first and second degree murder, where he contested the requisite mental intent, his plea was not knowingly and voluntarily made.

Finally, Mr. Arellano notes that he received no benefit from his *Alford* plea to the elements of malice aforethought and premeditation. This is because, "once an *Alford* plea is entered, the court may treat the defendant, for purposes of sentencing, as if he or she were guilty." *State v. Baker*, 153 Idaho 692, 697 (Ct. App. 2012). Therefore, while Mr. Arellano was able to maintain his position with regard to his intent, the district court was free to treat Mr. Arellano as though he admitted to malice aforethought and premeditation.

2. <u>Prejudice</u>

In determining that Mr. Arellano had not demonstrated prejudice, the court concluded that although Mr. Arellano testified at the evidentiary hearing that he did not know his wife would be at the bar on the night in question, the State had other evidence of premeditation and "Mr. Arellano's version of the events does not persuade the court that there was a "real

potential" for a jury to acquit Mr. Arellano on the first degree murder charge and then convicted on the included offense of second degree murder." (R., p.85.) Mr. Arellano asserts that this is not the appropriate standard for establishing prejudice after the recent decision of the United States Supreme Court in *Lee v. United States*, 137 S. Ct. 1958 (2017).

In *Lee*, the Court clarified that "Hill v. Lockhart[, 474 U.S. 52 (1985),] focuses on a defendant's decisionmaking, which may not turn solely on the likelihood of conviction after trial." 137 S. Ct. at 1966. The Court explained:

A defendant without any viable defense will be highly likely to lose at trial. And a defendant facing such long odds will rarely be able to show prejudice from accepting a guilty plea that offers him a better resolution than would be likely after trial. But that is not because the prejudice inquiry in this context looks to the probability of a conviction for its own sake. It is instead because defendants obviously weigh their prospects at trial in deciding whether to accept a plea. See *Hill*, 474 U.S., at 59, 106 S.Ct. 366. Where a defendant has no plausible chance of an acquittal at trial, it is highly likely that he will accept a plea if the Government offers one.

But common sense (not to mention our precedent) recognizes that there is more to consider than simply the likelihood of success at trial. The decision whether to plead guilty also involves assessing the respective consequences of a conviction after trial and by plea. See *INS v. St. Cyr*, 533 U.S. 289, 322–323, 121 S.Ct. 2271, 150 L.Ed.2d 347 (2001). When those consequences are, from the defendant's perspective, similarly dire, even the smallest chance of success at trial may look attractive. For example, a defendant with no realistic defense to a charge carrying a 20–year sentence may nevertheless choose trial, if the prosecution's plea offer is 18 years. Here Lee alleges that avoiding deportation was *the* determinative factor for him; deportation after some time in prison was not meaningfully different from deportation after somewhat less time. He says he accordingly would have rejected any plea leading to deportation—even if it shaved off prison time—in favor of throwing a "Hail Mary" at trial.

Id. at 1966-67. The Court noted, "where we are instead asking what an individual defendant would have done, the possibility of even a highly improbable result may be pertinent to the extent it would have affected his decisionmaking." *Id.* at 1967. Mr. Arellano does not contest that there is some evidence of first degree murder in his case. However, even if going to trial on

first degree murder hoping to be convicted of a lesser included offense was a "Hail Mary," Mr. Arellano can demonstrate prejudice if he can establish that a highly improbable result would have affected his decisionmaking. *Id*.

There is abundant evidence in this case that this result affected Mr. Arellano's decision making. The court believed that Mr. Arellano had not established a sufficient causal connection between his attorney's advice, but in its order denying post-conviction relief, the court noted that "Mr. Arellano contends that he would have insisted going to trial because he did not have the intention to kill [his wife.] However, this assertion is not new." (R., p.85.) Thus, the district court recognized that this had been Mr. Arellano's position throughout the criminal case. This is evidenced by the entry of plea transcript, which was admitted into evidence at the evidentiary hearing. (See Pl.'s Ex. 104.) This is important because in Lee, the Court stated, "courts should not upset a plea solely because of post hoc assertions from a defendant about how he would have pleaded but for his attorney's deficiencies. Judges should instead look to contemporaneous evidence to substantiate a defendant's expressed preferences." 137 S. Ct. at 1967. There is contemporaneous evidence in this case that Mr. Arellano did not want to admit premeditation or malice aforethought.

Mr. Arellano also provided testimony at the evidentiary hearing that supports his claim of prejudice. He testified that he did not understand the terms, premeditation or malice aforethought at the time, and only learned about the difference "because the friend that I had in prison, when he got all the paperwork, I got my paperwork, he read it and he told me what the differences are." (Tr., p.125, Ls.18-20.) Mr. Arellano testified that he wanted to go to trial, and this theory at trial would have been "because I didn't have the intention to kill my wife." (Tr., p.127, Ls.11-13.) Mr. Arellano stated, "I didn't have any intention. I was just looking. I

didn't have the intention to kill her. I didn't know that she was going to be there [at the bar.]"

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