Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-7-2018

Arellano v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 45179

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

ARGUMENT

The District Court Did Not Err When It Denied Arellano's Petition For Post-Conviction Relief

A. Introduction

After remand, the sole remaining issue to be determined at the evidentiary hearing was whether Mr. Jensen told Arellano that facts concerning his mental state were irrelevant to a first degree murder charge. See Arellano, 158 Idaho at 711, 351 P.3d at 639. At the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Jensen testified that he and Arellano discussed that Arellano's mental state was relevant, and was in fact the crux of the case. (See 1/13/17 Tr., p. 18, L. 19 – p. 25, L. 20, p. 40, L. 19 – p. 43, L. 13, p. 60, Ls. 4-14, p. 85, Ls. 4-9; see also R., pp. 78-80.)

In post-hearing briefing Arellano changed his claim and argued that Mr. Jensen was ineffective because he had not discussed the uncharged offense of second degree murder. (See R., p. 81.) The state objected to Arellano's post-hearing "attempt to refine, amend, or change" his ineffective assistance of counsel claim, arguing that the amendment was not permitted under the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure and that the state "would be prejudiced for lack of notice." (R., p. 67.)

The district court found that Arellano abandoned his original claim. (R., p. 81, n. 6.) The court declined to determine whether Arellano's "new post-trial argument constitute[d] an unpled claim" and elected instead to "simply address[] the new argument that Mr. Arellano raised in his post-trial briefing." (R., p. 81.) Addressing that argument, the district court found that Arellano failed to present sufficient evidence on both of the Strickland prongs and denied Arellano's post-conviction claim. (See R., pp. 81-86.)

Arellano now challenges the denial of his ineffective assistance of counsel claim, arguing that "he demonstrated both deficient performance and prejudice." (Appellant's brief, p. 7.) Arellano's appellate challenge fails for two reasons. First, Arellano waived the only claim that was before the trial court on remand, and his new claim – that counsel was ineffective for not advising Arellano regarding the elements of second degree murder – was not alleged in his petition and was therefore not properly before the district court or this Court on appeal. Second, even assuming this Court considers the merits of Arellano's unpled claim, Arellano failed to show error in the district court's conclusion that Arellano failed to prove deficient performance and prejudice.

B. Standard Of Review

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents mixed questions of law and fact. A petitioner for post-conviction relief has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, the allegations on which his claim is based. Idaho Criminal Rule 57(c); Estes v. State, 111 Idaho 430, 436, 725 P.2d 135, 141 (1986). A trial court's decision that the petitioner has not met his burden of proof is entitled to great weight. Sanders v. State, 117 Idaho 939, 940, 792 P.2d 964, 965 (Ct. App. 1990). Further, the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be given to the testimony are matters within the discretion of the trial court. Rueth v. State, 103 Idaho 74, 644 P.2d 1333 (1982).

The appellate court will not disturb the district court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. <u>Icanovic v. State</u>, 159 Idaho 524, 528, 363 P.3d 365, 369 (2015) (citing <u>Murray v. State</u>, 156 Idaho 159, 163-164, 321 P.3d 709, 713-714 (2014)).

However, the appellate court exercises free review of the district court's application of the relevant law to the facts. <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Murray</u>, 156 Idaho at 163-164, 321 P.3d at 713-714). If the district court reaches the correct result by an erroneous theory, the appellate court will affirm the order upon the correct theory. <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Murray</u>, 156 Idaho at 163-164, 321 P.3d at 713-714).

- C. <u>Arellano Has Failed To Show The District Court Erred When It Denied His Petition For Post-Conviction Relief</u>
 - 1. Arellano Waived His Sole Remaining Claim That His Counsel Gave Him Incorrect Advice Regarding The Relevancy Of His Mental State To The First Degree Murder Charge And His New Claim Was Not Properly Before The District Court And Should Not Be Considered On Appeal

A post-conviction applicant is required to raise "[a]ll grounds for relief available" in his "original, supplemental or amended application." I.C. § 19-4908. "[W]hen the defendant fails to raise an issue in the petition or in an amended petition, that issue is not raised before the district court and this Court will not consider the issue on appeal." Dunlap v. State, 159 Idaho 280, 293-294, 360 P.3d 289, 302-303 (2015) (citing McKinney v. State, 133 Idaho 695, 708, 992 P.2d 144, 157 (1999); Cowger v. State, 132 Idaho 681, 686-687, 978 P.2d 241, 246-247 (Ct. App. 1999)).

The Idaho Court of Appeals remanded Arellano's first post-conviction appeal for an evidentiary hearing on Arellano's remaining claim, that his defense counsel told him that his mental state was irrelevant to a first degree murder charge. See Arellano, 158 Idaho at 711, 351 P.3d at 639. The Court of Appeals interpreted that claim as alleging that "Arellano informed defense counsel about this mental state when he killed his wife and that defense counsel informed him that facts concerning his mental state were

irrelevant." <u>Id.</u> However, during the evidentiary hearing Arellano did not make any arguments or present any evidence to support this claim. (R., p. 81, n. 6.) Mr. Jensen testified that he told Arellano that his mental state was relevant, and was the "crux" of the case:

- Q. And specifically when you had conversations with Mr. Arellano about these charges, you had discussions about the relevance of the mental requirements for each charge?
- A. Correct, because that is the crux of establishing the voluntary manslaughter defense as opposed to something like a first degree murder charge.

(1/13/17 Tr., p. 85, Ls. 4-9.)

After the hearing Arellano "redefined" the scope of his claim and argued that "Mr. Jensen failed to give [Arellano] advice regarding the elements of second degree murder, the application of the facts to the elements of second degree murder, and the impact of a second degree murder conviction." (R., p. 81 (citing Petitioner's Post-Trial Brief. 2⁵).) The district court determined that this was a "new argument" and that Arellano waived the ineffective assistance of counsel claim that was remanded by the Court of Appeals. (Id.)

On appeal, Arellano argues "that the claim raised in the post-trial briefing is not a new claim, but rather a refinement of his initial claim[.]" (Appellant's brief, p. 8.) Arellano argues that his initial claim was "that his counsel told him that his mental state was irrelevant, but after the hearing he simply claimed that his counsel did not explain the

12

⁵ This cited page in Petitioner's Post-Trial Brief can be found in the record at page 43.

difference in the mental state required for first or second degree murder." (Id.)

Arellano's attempt to characterize his new claim as a "refinement" fails.

The Idaho Court of Appeals' decision characterized the only claim it remanded for an evidentiary hearing as alleging that "Arellano informed defense counsel about his mental state when he killed his wife and that defense counsel informed him that facts concerning his mental state were irrelevant." Arellano, 158 Idaho at 711, 351 P.3d at 639. The Court of Appeals reasoned that, if Arellano's assertions that he was in "a blind rage" when he killed his wife were true, then his mental state was relevant to the first degree murder charge. Id. at 711-712, 351 P.3d at 639-40.

Arellano's pro se claim is not artfully pled, yet the assertions listed above do add up to a claim asserting that defense counsel provided deficient performance by advising him that facts concerning Arellano's mental state when he killed his wife were irrelevant. Taking the other factual assertions offered by Arellano as true about the circumstances leading up to his wife's death, Arellano's mental state was relevant, as Arellano explained that he was in "a blind rage" after seeing his wife return to the bar and that his rage was "overwhelming." Indeed, evidence challenging the premeditation element of first degree murder might lead a jury to convict of the lesser charge of second degree murder, I.C. § 18-4003(a) and (g), and the unlawful killing of a human being in the heat of passion is voluntary manslaughter, not murder, I.C. § 18–4006. Therefore, Arellano's assertions support a prima facie case of deficient performance by defense counsel when, as Arellano alleges, counsel insisted that facts concerning Arellano's mental state when Arellano killed his wife were irrelevant.

Id. at 711, 351 P.3d at 639.

However, this was not the claim Arellano pursued on remand. Instead of presenting evidence and argument that Mr. Jensen told him that his mental state was irrelevant to a first degree murder charge, Arellano contended for the first time in his post-hearing briefing, that Mr. Jensen was ineffective because he did not give Arellano

advice regarding the elements of second degree murder. This is a new claim. Claiming that counsel incorrectly told him that his mental state was irrelevant to a first degree murder charge is a very different claim than counsel failing to give detailed advice regarding an uncharged lesser included offense. While first and second degree murder require different mental states, a claim that counsel advised Arellano that his mental state was irrelevant is very different from a claim that counsel failed to advise Arellano regarding the elements of second degree murder.

On appeal Arellano also argues that even if it is a new claim the court may grant relief even if it has not been specifically requested. (Appellant's brief, pp. 8-9 (citing Cady v. Pitts, 102 Idaho 86, 90, 625 P.2d 1089, 1093 (1981); O'Connor v. Harger Constr., Inc., 145 Idaho 904, 911, 188 P.3d 846, 853 (2008); Child v. Blaser, 111 Idaho 702, 704, 727 P.2d 893, 895 (Ct. App. 1986).) None of the cases cited by Arellano applied this rule to a post-conviction relief. While the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure generally apply to post-conviction proceedings, the rules governing an application for post-conviction relief differ from a complaint in a civil action. See I.C. § 19-4903; McKinney v. State, 162 Idaho 286, 290, 396 P.3d 1168, 1172 (2017). However, Idaho Code § 19-4908 specifically requires "[a]ll grounds for relief available to an applicant under this act must be raised in his original, supplemental or amended application."

⁻

⁶ Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 15(b) also permits a trial court to amend a pleading to conform to the evidence if the amendment would not prejudice the other party. <u>See</u> I.R.C.P. 15(b). However, Arellano did not move to amend his pleadings before the district court. Nor does Arellano contend on appeal that Rule 15(b) applies.

"[W]hen the defendant fails to raise an issue in the petition or in an amended petition, that issue is not raised before the district court and this Court will not consider the issue on appeal." Dunlap, 159 Idaho at 293-294, 360 P.3d at 302-303 (citations omitted). The district court correctly ruled that Arellano waived his sole remaining claim by not presenting any evidence or argument to support it at the evidentiary hearing. (See R., p. 81.) Even though the district court considered the merits of Arellano's new claim, this Court should decline to do so because the claim was never pled. Like the district court, this Court should consider Arellano's remaining claim waived and affirm the judgment of the district court on this alternative basis.

2. <u>Arellano Has Failed To Show The District Court Erred When It Found</u>
<u>That He Failed To Prove His Newly Argued Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel Claim</u>

Even if the merits of Arellano's new claim are considered, his argument on appeal fails. While the district court determined that Arellano waived his remaining claim, the district court still considered the merits of his new claim and found that Arellano failed to prove, by a preponderance of the evidence, that Mr. Jensen provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to advise Arellano regarding the facts and elements of the uncharged offense of second degree murder. (R., pp. 81-87.) Application of the law to the facts supports the district court's determination.

a. <u>Arellano Has Failed To Show The District Court Erred When It Found Arellano Failed To Prove Mr. Jensen's Performance Was Deficient</u>

"A post-conviction relief proceeding is a civil action, and thus the 'applicant must prove by a preponderance of evidence the allegations upon which the request for postconviction relief is based." Adamcik v. State, 163 Idaho 114, 408 P.3d 474, 482 (2017) (quoting State v. Payne, 146 Idaho 548, 560, 199 P.3d 123, 135 (2008)). "The Idaho Supreme Court 'has adopted the *Strickland* two-prong test to evaluate whether a criminal defendant received effective assistance of counsel." Id. (citing Dunlap v. State, 141 Idaho 50, 59, 106 P.3d 376, 385 (2004); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)). "A defendant must prove both that (1) counsel's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency prejudiced the defense." Id. (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687). "An appellant must demonstrate 'that the attorney's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness' in order to prove deficient performance." Id. (citing Gilpin-Grubb v. State, 138 Idaho 76, 81, 57 P.3d 787, 792 (2002)).

Here, the district court found that Arellano failed to prove that Mr. Jensen's performance was deficient. (See R., pp. 83-84.) The court found that "Mr. Jensen reviewed, analyzed, and weighed the evidence in the underlying case, and he discussed it with Mr. Arellano." (Id.) Even though Arellano claimed he did not intend to kill Ms. Nanez, Mr. Jensen negotiated a plea agreement due to the strength of the state's evidence. (Id.) The Alford plea allowed Arellano to maintain his new position, that he did not intend to kill Ms. Nanez, while at the same time taking advantage of the state's plea offer. (Id.) The district court went on to determine that Arellano was not charged with second degree murder and there was nothing about the case that would require Mr. Jensen to provide details of the elements of an uncharged lesser included offense.

Although Mr. Arellano now contends that Mr. Jensen should have advised him regarding the offense of second degree murder, Mr. Arellano was not charged with second degree murder. The State did not express any intention to amend the charge to second degree murder or make a plea

offer for second degree murder. Further, Mr. Jensen correctly perceived that the State had evidence of premeditation to support the first degree murder charge if the case went to trial.

Mr. Arellano did not cite to any rule, statute, or case law that requires a defense attorney, in negotiating a plea deal, to give advice to a criminal defendant regarding an uncharged included offense. Further, he did not provide any specific evidence, in the form of testimony from an expert witness or otherwise, to establish that such advice would be required under an objective standard of reasonableness.

(R., p. 84.) The district court found that Arellano failed to provide evidence that Mr. Jensen's performance fell below an objectively reasonable standard. (Id.)

On appeal, Arellano claims that the district court erred, contending Mr. Jensen had a duty to advise Arellano regarding the elements of second degree murder because, "without advice on the difference between first and second degree murder, where he contested the requisite mental intent, his plea was not knowingly and voluntarily made." (Appellant's brief, pp. 9-10.) Arellano also argues he received no benefit from his <u>Alford</u> plea because "the district court was free to treat Mr. Arellano as though he admitted to malice aforethought and premeditation." (Id.) Both of Arellano's arguments are without support in the record.

"The *Strickland* standard applies to advice regarding plea bargains as defendants are entitled to 'the effective assistance of competent counsel' in considering a plea deal."

<u>Icanovic</u>, 159 Idaho at 529, 363 P.3d at 370 (citing <u>Padilla v. Kentucky</u>, 559 U.S. 356, 364 (2010)). "To establish a deficiency, the petitioner has the burden of showing that the attorney's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." <u>Arellano</u>, 158 Idaho at 710, 351 P.3d at 638 (citing <u>Aragon v. State</u>, 114 Idaho 758, 760, 760 P.2d 1174, 1176 (1988)). The tactical or strategic decisions of trial counsel will not be second-

guessed on appeal "unless those decisions are based on inadequate preparation, ignorance of relevant law, or other shortcomings capable of objective evaluation." <u>Id.</u> (citing <u>Howard v. State</u>, 126 Idaho 231, 233, 880 P.2d 261, 263 (Ct. App. 1994)).

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